
 
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Monday, 15 February 2021  

 01476 406080 
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

Companies 
Committee  

     
 

 

Tuesday, 23 February 2021 at 2.00 pm 
Virtual Meeting - This meeting is being held remotely by 

Skype for Business 
 

 
Committee 
Members: 

 
Councillor Graham Jeal (Chairman) 
Councillor John Dawson (Vice-Chairman) 
 
Councillor Bob Adams, Councillor Ashley Baxter, Councillor Philip Knowles, Councillor Susan 
Sandall, Councillor Ian Stokes and Councillor Mark Whittington 
 
 

Agenda 
 Virtual Meeting - Joining Arrangements 

Councillors should access the meeting using the link in their calendar. 
 

Members of the press and public can gain access to the meeting by using the following link: 
 

Companies Committee –23 February 2021 
 

If you are using a smartphone or tablet it may be necessary to download the Skype for 
Business app before you can enter the meeting; please allow yourself time to do this. If you 
are using a laptop or desktop computer, you should be able to access the meeting via your 

web browser. 
 

When you follow the link to the meeting you will enter a virtual lobby; you will be invited into 
the meeting from the lobby just before the meeting begins. Members of the public should not 
use the Chat function in Skype for Business. This is for use by Councillors, who will use it to 

indicate that they would like to speak. 
 

If you have any questions about how to join the meeting, please e-mail 
democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk. 

 
 
 
 

 

https://meet.southkesteven.gov.uk/d3/K59LWBH4
mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk


 

 
1.   Register of attendance, membership and apologies for absence 

 
 

2.   Disclosure of interests 
Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at the meeting 
 

 

3.   Minutes of the meeting held on 21 October 2020 
Members to consider the minutes of the meeting held on 21 October 2020. 
 

(Pages 3 - 
10) 

4.   Updates from the previous meeting 
 

(Pages 11 
- 13) 

5.   Gravitas Housing Limited 
To receive a verbal update on the Business Plan for Gravitas Housing Limited 
 

 

6.   East Midlands Building Consultancy (EMBC) 
EMBC is the highly successful building control service for South Kesteven District 
Council (SKDC), Rushcliffe Borough Council (RBC) and Newark and Sherwood 
District Council (NSDC). It is hosted and delivered by South Kesteven District 
Council via a partnership agreement between the 3 authorities. It is not based on 
a company model, instead all employees and associated responsibilities reside 
with SKDC. All income and costs are shared with partners as per the agreement, 
on a 3-way equal share. The purpose of this report is to support the Companies 
Committee in keeping an oversight of the partnership. 
 
Appendix 1 to this report is exempt under paragraph 3, Schedule 12A of the 

Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) because it contains information 

relating to the financial or business affairs of an individual or organisation.  

Should Members wish to discuss to contents of the appendices, a 

resolution to exclude the press and public will be required.   

 

(Pages 15 
- 49) 

7.   LeisureSK Ltd Business Plan 2021/22 
This report provides an update on the successful establishment of LeisureSK Ltd 
and the submission of the Business Plan for 2021/22. 
 
Appendix 3 to this report is exempt under paragraph 3, Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) because it contains information 
relating to the financial or business affairs of an individual or organisation.  
Should Members wish to discuss to contents of the appendices, a 
resolution to exclude the press and public will be required. 
 

(Pages 51 
- 91) 

8.   Work Programme 2020/21 
 

(Page 93) 

9.   Any other business which the Chairman, by reasons of special circumstances, 
decides is urgent 
 

 



11 
 

Meeting of the 
Companies Committee 
 
Wednesday, 21 October 2020,   
2.00 pm  

 

Meeting held virtually, via Skype 
 

 

Committee Members present Members as Company Directors  
  

Councillor Bob Adams 
Councillor Ashley Baxter 
Councillor John Dawson (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Graham Jeal (Chairman) 
Councillor Philip Knowles 
Councillor Ian Stokes 
Councillor Mark Whittington 
 

Councillor Barry Dobson (LeisureSK Ltd) 

Other Members 
 

Councillor Kelham Cooke (The Leader of the Council)  
Councillor Annie Mason (Cabinet Member for Communities) 
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley (Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations) 
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew (Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor 
Economy)  
Councillor Phil Dilks 
 

Officers  
 

Karen Bradford (Chief Executive) 
Gary Smith (Strategic Director Commercial & Operations) 
Richard Wyles (Interim Director of Finance) 
Shahin Ismail (Director of Law and Governance (Monitoring Officer)) 
Karen Whitfield (Head of Leisure) 
Jo Toomey (Head of Governance) 
Debbie Roberts (Corporate Project Officer) 
Paul Clarke (Finance Lead, Housing Delivery) 
Shelley Thirkell (Democratic Officer) 
 

 
15. Register of attendance, membership and apologies for absence 
 
A register of attendance was taken. An apology for absence was received 
from Councillor Susan Sandall.   
 
 

3

Agenda Item 3



 
 

16. Disclosure of interests 
 
No interests were disclosed.  
 
17. Minutes of the meeting held on 22 September 2020 
 

Following a vote, the minutes of the meeting held on 22 September 
2020, were agreed as a correct record, subject to the following 
amendments: 
 

• Amendment of typographical errors 
 

• The clarification of names of postholders in the attendance list of 

the minutes 
 

• Item 6, paragraph 12 reference; “Then further director 

appointments, along with external non-executive directors, would 
be made at a future meeting”. Be changed to “Then further director 
appointments, along with external non-executive directors, could be 
made at a future meeting” 

 

• Any reference to LeisureSK be changed to LeisureSK Ltd 
 

A member of the Committee sought clarification around the use of officer 
titles for appointments and noted that only named individuals could be 
appointed as company Directors, rather than post titles. The Head of 
Law and Governance confirmed that was indeed the case. Officer titles 
were referred to as only whoever was appointed to those posts, would be 
appointed to wholly owned council companies, as directors. Should an 
officer vacate their post, the Directorship would then pass to the next 
postholder, subject to Council approval.  
 
Following discussion by the Committee actions were agreed. 
 

ACTIONS  
 

a. All wholly owned council companies, that had been 
incorporated were to be referred to as such, for example 
LeisureSK Ltd 

 

b. That officers noted in attendance should be referred to not 
only by title, but by name also. 

 
18. Updates from the previous meeting 
 

The Committee received an update on actions agreed at the meeting held on 
22 September 2020.   
 
It was requested that should there be no updates on actions, that it be noted 
as nothing further to report.  The Head of Governance advised that the Action 

4



 
 

document included within the agenda, had been updated since publication, 
which had been circulated to Members.  It was agreed by the Committee that 
the updated document should be appended to the minutes, for openness and 
transparency.   
 
The Chairman noted that Item 39 would be more appropriately be assigned to 
the Directors of EnvironmentSK Ltd, rather than to the Communications Team.   
 
ACTIONS: 
 

a. To append the updated Actions of the meeting held on 22 
September 2020 document, to the minutes of the meeting.  

 

b. To update the assignment of the action regarding EnvironmentSK 
Ltd from the Communication Team to the Directors of 
EnviornmentSK Ltd 

  
19. LeisureSK - company structure and business plan 
 

The Committee received a report on LeisureSK Ltd, its Company Structure 
and Business Plan.  A decision had been made by Cabinet, which was 
endorsed by the Committee, to transfer the Council’s leisure service to 
LeisureSK Ltd on the expiry of the current leisure contract on 2 January 2021.   
 
Since the decision had been endorsed by the Committee work had been 
undertaken to establish the optimal company structure, five-year business 
plan, draft Articles of Association and consideration of the appointment of 
Company Directors.  Consultation had continued with the existing leisure 
centre staff on their transfer to LeisureSK Ltd.  
 
The Company had been set up as a not for profit Teckal company, limited by 
guarantee.  This would allow the Council to directly award the leisure services 
contract, without going through a competitive tender process.  It also meant 
that the Company had to procure goods and services through EU 
Procurement Law.  Following advice LeisureSK Ltd was established as a non-
profit distributing organisation (NPPO), which allowed the Company to qualify 
for VAT exemptions in specific areas.   
 
Key legal arrangements were needed to be put in place to define the Council’s 
relationship with LeisureSK Ltd, these included: A Leisure Management 
Contract, Leases and Alternative Arrangements, Resourcing Agreement, 
Articles of Association, Members’ Agreement and a 5-year Business Plan.   
 
In presenting the report and proposing the recommendations, the Cabinet 
Member for Growth put forward two additional Directors: the person holding 
the post of the Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources and the person 
holding the post of the Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy. 
 

5



 
 

Members discussed the content of the report and the following points were 
raised and addressed as follows:  
 

 Would there be a Service Level Agreement between LeisureSK Ltd and 
South Kesteven District Council 

 
Some level of professional support may be sought from the Council, there 
would be a formal Service Level Agreement in place and appropriate re-
charges would be made. 
 

 The five-year Business Plan, which would be revised once business 
cases had been finalised, would the Committee have sight of the revised 
document 

 
The Head of Leisure advised that a detailed Annual Business Plan would be 
presented to the Committee, which would include how the Company would 
engage with its customers. 
 

 That there be involvement of leisure facility users with the Board of 
Directors 

 
Members were advised that a non-executive director would be appointed to 
the company, it was anticipated that they would have a wealth of relevant 
experience to bring to the Company.  User panels would also be formed, so 
that the Council could maintain oversight of feedback when holding the 
company’s performance to account.  
 

 Further consideration be given to the level of remuneration for the 
appointment of a non-executive director 

 
It was explained that the advised figure was within market average and that 
any individual appointed would take on considerable responsibility which 
carried a level of risk.   
 

 Concerns regarding risk over Covid-19 and any further lockdowns and 
the affect it may have on the viability of the company 

 
All scenarios had been considered and if there were any significant changes, 
they would be reported to the Committee.  
 

 Clarification as to why a charitable organisation was not the choice of 
structure for the company 

 
Members were advised that options on the formation of the Company were 
considered at a meeting of Cabinet.  It was agreed that the formation of a 
Teckal Company would prove the most beneficial to the Council.  The Director 
of Law and Governance agreed to provide written detail on the chosen 
company structure.  The Head of Leisure noted that as the current contract 

6



 
 

was shortly due to end and options were limited in the leisure market, the 
chosen option was the most prudent.  The options appraisal considered by 
cabinet provided detail, it was agreed that this would be re-circulated to 
Members.   
 
ACTIONS:  
 

a. The Director of Law and Governance provide Members with 
technical document on the chosen company structure 

 

b. That the options appraisal considered by Cabinet, be re-circulated 
to Members.  

 
c. Whether the withdrawal from the EU would have any effect on the 

company in relation to provisions for Teckal companies 
 
The Director of Law and Governance advised that as many EU Laws had 
been embedded into UK Law, that would not have an effect on the Company.  
 

 Request for clarification regarding the appropriate Member forum to 
scrutinise the work of LeisureSK Ltd 

 
The Chairman agreed that it would be useful to have an agreed forum and 
said that he would raise it for discussion at a meeting of Scrutiny Committee 
Chairmen.  The outcome of this would then be reported to a future meeting of 
the Committee.  
 
ACTIONS: 
 

d. The Chairman to discuss, at the next meeting of Scrutiny Chairs, 
the appropriate forum for members to scrutinise the work of 
LeisureSK Ltd and report back to the next meeting of the 
Committee 

 

 Clarity on Member appointments to LeisureSK Ltd, if they were due to 
their positions as Portfolio Holders 

 
It was confirmed that Member appointments to the Directorship of the 
Company were due to their role as Portfolio Holder.  Should they no longer 
serve as Portfolio Holder, the Directorship would then pass to their successor. 
At the request of Members this requirement was to be added to the 
recommendations of the report, for Member approval. 
 
Following a vote, Members agreed to discuss Appendices 5 and 7 to the 
report in exempt session. The appendices were exempt under paragraph 3 of 
Schedule12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) because they 
contain information relating to the financial or business affairs of an individual 
organisation. 
 

7



 
 

Councillor Ashley Baxter requested that his objection to the exclusion of press 
and public be noted.  
 
Members discussed the financial information, which was presented in the 
restricted papers. Once discussion on the exempt items had concluded, the 
meeting returned to public session. 
 
Following a vote by exception the Committee agreed the following 
recommendations.   
 
Councillor Ashley Baxter requested that his vote against approval, be noted.  
 
DECISIONS: 
 

1. The Committee noted the further work undertaken to establish the 
optimal company structure for LeisureSK Ltd which would ensure 
that the Company is financially efficient and would benefit from 
savings in relation to VAT and business rates. 
 

2. The Committee endorsed the draft Articles of Association, Members 
Agreement and Resourcing Agreement detailed within the report as 
the main documents which will govern the Council’s relationship 
with LeisureSK Ltd. 

 

3. The Committee endorsed the five-year high-level business plan 
provided within the report for the purposes of allowing the Council 
to make appropriate budget allocations to support the ongoing 
operation of LeisureSK Ltd. 

 

4. Agreed to receive a detailed business plan from the Directors of 
LeisureSK Ltd at the earliest opportunity once the company had 
been fully established and the Directors had been appointed. 

 

5. Endorsed the commencement of a recruitment process to identify a 
suitably qualified and skilled Non-Executive Director to sit on the 
Board of Directors for LeisureSK Ltd. 

 

6. Recommended to Council that the Leader of the Council, Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Resources, Cabinet Member for Culture 
and Visitor Economy and the Director of Growth and Culture be 
appointed as Directors of LeisureSK Ltd. 

 

7. Noted that LeisureSK Ltd may require working capital in advance of 
the Company being operational in order to ensure a smooth 
transition to the new arrangements. 

 

8. That a Member may only hold their position as Director of 
LeisureSK Ltd, whilst they maintain their role as Portfolio Holder.   

 
  

 

8



 
 

20. Update on Housing Delivery Partnership 
 

A report was presented to the Committee on the latest position of the 
proposed housing joint venture and the recommended next steps to stimulate 
housing delivery in the District.  At a meeting of the Committee on 7 January 
2020 it was requested that an update on progress be presented in April 2020.  
Due to the cancellation of that meeting and the Covid-19 Pandemic this had 
been delayed.   
 
The report laid out strategic context in relation to the South Kesteven District 
Council Corporate Plan, Covid-19 and housing delivery.  In addition to this, 
details were provided on consultations and overview and scrutiny processes, 
alongside feedback that had been received.  
 
A number of options were set out in the report and it was recommended that 
the Council work proactively with the housing market, to pursue other 
approaches.  It would provide the opportunity to build positive relationships 
within the housing market, stimulating housing delivery, whilst avoiding the 
need to commit to significant long-term investments. There would be an 
opportunity to review that position once there was a greater degree of 
certainty around the economic recovery from Covid-19.  It was proposed that it 
be considered as part of the annual review of the Corporate Plan.   
 
Members considered the content and following discussion; the following points 
were raised: 
 

 Clarification on how the Council would continue to build properties, 
should a joint housing venture not be pursued.  It was also requested 
that an update on houses that have been built be provided to Members.  

 
Members were advised that properties that had been built by the Council were 
via the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) and would not be affected by the 
venture not being pursued. The Chairman advised that the relevant Portfolio 
Holder would be able to update Members on the current number of houses 
delivered through the HRA.  
 
ACTION: 
 

a. The Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning to update Members 
on the current number of houses delivered through the HRA.  

 

 Concerns were raised regarding funding from Government District, would 
the proposed decision affect the funding 

 
The Deputy Leader advised that there would be no effect on funding the 
Council would receive from central Government.  
 

 Why a joint venture was not considered the preferred method to build 
houses within the District 

9



 
 

 
The Leader and Deputy Leader of the Council explained that the Council had 
put in place Gravitas Housing Ltd, which could be used to build within the 
private sector.  Additionally, the Council did not have access to land nor the 
funds in the current climate, to pursue what had previously been proposed.  
The Council could achieve house building without the need to form the joint 
venture.  
 

 Were there any budgetary implications for not carrying on with the 
proposal 

 
The Interim Head of Finance advised that there would be no effect to the 
budget, as it was not in relation to HRA social housing. The proposals were for 
private sector housing, the two ambitions had no relation.  
 
Following the discussion, the Committee agreed to note the recommendations 
presented within the report.   
 
DECISIONS: 
 

1. That the Committee noted the contents of this report and that a 
housing partnership is not pursued at this time, but that the 
development of a partnership is considered in the future as part of 
the Council’s annual review process 

 

2. That the Committee notes that the Council intends to build on the 
positive relationships developed with partners in the housing 
market to stimulate ongoing delivery in South Kesteven 

 
21. Work Programme 
 

Members noted the work programme and queried when it was anticipated that 
the detailed LeisureSK Ltd Business Plan would be considered by the 
Committee.  
 
The Head of Leisure advised that the Business Plan was currently being 
prepared and it was hoped to be drafted by Mid November 2020.  The 
Chairman requested that the Committee consider its contents at the February 
meeting of the Committee, which could be brought forward if necessary.  
 
ACTION:  
 

a. That the LeisureSK Ltd Business Plan be added to the Work 
Programme. 

 
22. Close of meeting 
 
The meeting closed at 4.10pm. 
 

10



 

 
 

ACTION SHEET 

Companies Committee – 21 October 2020 
 

Min 
No 

Agenda Item Action Assigned to Comment/Status Deadline 

17 Minutes of the 
meeting held on 
22 September 
2020 

Minutes to be amended: 

 Amendment of typographical errors 
 The clarification of names of 

postholders in the attendance list of 
the minutes 

 Item 6, paragraph 12 reference; 
“Then further director appointments, 
along with external non-executive 
directors, would be made at a future 
meeting”. Be changed to “Then 
further director appointments, along 
with external non-executive 
directors, could be made at a future 
meeting” 

 Any reference to LeisureSK be 
changed to LeisureSK Ltd 

Democratic Services Completed on 27 October 
2020 
 

14 
November 
2020 

18 Updates from the 
previous meeting 

To update the assignment of the 
action regarding EnvironmentSK Ltd 
from the Communication Team to the 
Directors of EnviornmentSK Ltd. 

Democratic Services Completed on 27 October 
2020 
Action 39 from previous 
meeting included in these 
actions to reflect change to 
assignment of response from 
Communications Team to 
EnvironmentSK Ltd  

14 
November 
2020 

Additional Action forwarded from 
previous meeting due to amendment 
to action: 

EnvironmentSK Ltd Response received from Ian 
Yates on 27 October 2020 
that included a previous 

14 
November 
2020 

11

A
genda Item

 4



 

 
 

Min 
No 

Agenda Item Action Assigned to Comment/Status Deadline 

That some of the key messages and 
successes from the EnvironmentSK 
Ltd Business Plan should be put into a 
format, that did not include any 
commercially sensitive information, so 
that it could be shared with the public. 

response that: “This request 
has been past to SKDC’s 
Communications Team to 
factor in to their future 
workplan and/or for 
consideration to include within 
upcoming 
communications/publications.” 

19 LeisureSK Ltd - 
company structure 
and business plan 

1. The Director of Law and 
Governance provide members with 
technical document on the chosen 
company structure. 

Director of Law and 
Governance 

Response received by the 
Director of Law and 
Governance on 27 October 
2020 that this was being 
worked on. 

14 
November 
2020 

2. That the options appraisal 
considered by Cabinet, be re-
circulated to members. 

Head of Leisure 
Services 

Head of Leisure Services 
circulated to Members on 26 
October 2020 the following 
reports: 
1. Impact of Covid-19 on the 

Leisure Service 
2. Review of Financial 

Support Requirements for 
Leisure Service during 
COVID-19 Recovery 
Period 

14 
November 
2020 

3. The Chairman to discuss, at the 
next meeting of Scrutiny Chairs, 
the appropriate forum for members 
to scrutinise LeisureSK Ltd and 
report back to the next meeting of 
the Committee. 

Democratic Services Item was discussed by the 
Scrutiny Chairs at their 
meeting held on 6 November 
2020. 

14 
November 
2020 
 
 
  

Decisions with 
actions: 

1. Committee to receive a detailed 
business plan from the Directors of 
LeisureSK Ltd at the earliest 

Head of Leisure To be submitted to the 
meeting of the Committee on 
23/02/2021 

18 
December 
2020 

12



 

 
 

Min 
No 

Agenda Item Action Assigned to Comment/Status Deadline 

opportunity once the company had 
been fully established and the 
Directors had been appointed. 

 

2. Recommended to Council that the 
Leader of the Council, Cabinet 
Member for Finance and 
Resources, Cabinet Member for 
Culture and Visitor Economy and 
the Director of Growth and Culture 
be appointed as Directors of 
LeisureSK Ltd. 

Democratic Services / 
Head of Leisure 
Services 

Item confirmed to be on draft 
agenda 
 
Response received from the 
Head of Leisure Services on 
6 November 2020 that a 
report is being prepared for 
Council on the 26th November 
to propose the additional 
Director appointments. 

6 November 
2020 

 3. Commencement of a recruitment 
process to identify a suitably 
qualified and skilled Non-Executive 
Director to sit on the Board of 
Directors for LeisureSK Ltd 

Head of Leisure Response received 6 
November 2020 that this has 
been actioned and the 
position has been advertised. 

14 
November 
2020 

20 Update on 
Housing Delivery 
Partnership 

The Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Planning to update members on the 
current number of houses delivered 
through the Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA). 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing and Planning 

Response received 12 
November 2020 and 
circulated to Members on 24 
November 2020 

14 
November 
2020 

21 Work Programme That the LeisureSK Ltd Business Plan 
be added to the work programme 
provisionally for February 2021. 

Democratic Services Completed – added to 
23/02/2021 meeting of the 
Committee 

18 
December 
2020 

 

13



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Companies Committee 
23 February 2021 

Report of: Cllr Dr Peter Moseley 

  Cabinet Member for Commercial & 
Operations 

           

East Midlands Building Consultancy (EMBC) 

EMBC is the highly successful building control service for South Kesteven District Council 
(SKDC), Rushcliffe Borough Council (RBC) and Newark and Sherwood District Council (NSDC). It 
is hosted and delivered by South Kesteven District Council via a partnership agreement between 
the 3 authorities. It is not based on a company model, instead all employees and associated 
responsibilities reside with SKDC. All income and costs are shared with partners as per the 
agreement, on a 3-way equal share. The purpose of this report is to support the Companies 
Committee in keeping an oversight of the partnership. 

Report Author 

Ian Yates, Assistant Director, Commercial and Operational 

 
01476 406201 

 i.yates@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Competitiveness Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Anne-Marie Coulthard, Head of Public Protection 4 February 2021 

Approved by: Gary Smith, Strategic Director – Commercial & 
Operations 

13 February 2021 

Signed off by: Cllr Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for 
Commercial & Operations 

13 February 2021 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. That the Committee reviews the report, associated Abridged Business Plan and makes 
recommendations to support the ongoing partnership.  

15

Agenda Item 6

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to support the Companies Committee role in keeping an 

oversight of the Council’s owned companies and commercial partnerships. This report 

provides an overview of the partnership arrangement for the statutory provision of building 

control services through East Midlands Building Consultancy (EMBC).  

1.2 This report provides information explaining the services provided and demonstrates how 

the partnership has performed over the last year in delivering its overall objectives.  Any 

information which is commercially sensitive has been excluded from the public report.  

Recognising the different nature of EMBC, the Companies Committee requested an 

abridged business plan.  The Abridged Business Plan, including commercial information, 

is attached in the exempt Appendix 1 and follows the Companies Committee’s preferred 

template format.  

2 Building Control Services 

2.1 Building control is a statutory service provided by a local authority. Building regulations set 

the minimum standards for design, construction and alterations to virtually every building. 

Building regulation approvals can be sought by application to a local authority building 

control service or an Approved Inspector. These approvals, as provided by EMBC, are 

referred to as “fee earning” services. The local authority effectively competes with 

Approved Inspectors in the local market. However, in addition, a local authority is 

statutorily required to provide “non fee earning” services such as maintaining registers of 

all building control approvals awarded in its area, whether issued by itself or by Approved 

Inspectors. Other non-fee earning work includes providing general advice to the public and 

undertaking work associated with dangerous structures. 

2.2 The cost of fee earning work associated with the issuing of Building Regulation approvals 

is required to breakeven with the fee income charged, based on a trading account model 

over a 3-year period. The non-fee earning work is a cost that falls on the local authority 

and is charged to the general fund. There are specific requirements associated with the 

accounting for the service. 

3 EMBC  

3.1 The East Midlands Building Consultancy is a partnership, established in 2014, between 

South Kesteven District Council and Rushcliffe Borough Council, with Newark and 

Sherwood District Council joining 2015/16.  

3.2 The partnership was established to improve on the single authority provider model, in that 

it delivers better value for money through sharing management, skills and experience.  

3.3 Key to success is the objective to improve overall financial efficiency, thereby reducing the 

cost charged to the local council taxpayer for the non-fee earning work and enabling the 

fee earning service to successfully compete and break even. 

3.4 The original partnership objectives were to combine resources to improve resilience, depth 

of expertise, staff retention and to improve service performance in this highly regulated 

area of work.   

3.5 EMBC has successfully provided the three authorities with staffing resilience and shares 

the considerable expertise that the three authorities employ. Retaining staff and the 

service expertise required, was a significant issue to each partner, prior to the partnership 

16



 

 
 

being established. The service has financially performed well, reducing and clearing 

previous trading deficits (see Table 3) and minimising non-fee earning costs.  

3.6 The overall aim of EMBC is: 

“to provide efficient and cost-effective building control services” 

3.7 Benchmarking, using published accounts and a recent assessment, has shown that the 

partnership delivers very good performance and is very cost effective, showing a strong 

financial performance and requiring each partner to contribute a lower general fund 

contribution.  The General Fund recharge in 2018/19 for each partner was £87,300 which 

compared favourably when benchmarked with 3 other local authorities which range 

between £135,000 and £210,000 per annum. 

Success 

3.8 As well as delivering financially, EMBC has been, and continues to be, involved with larger 

schemes and award-winning projects which allow it to promote its brand to larger 

developers. This is critical to the future success of the service as larger schemes are often 

more financially supportive and future changes are likely to favour larger operators. To this 

end examples of major larger projects include:   

• Stand at Nottingham Forest Football Club. 

• Mixed Use development at Trent Bridge, Nottingham. 

• 4 Storey Apartment Block at Newark. 

• Bespoke Manor being built in Newark. 

• Extensive Grantham Housing Development – 2010 / 2022. 
   

LABC Awards 

3.9 The service has been party to four LABC awards in recent years. The LABC awards are 

the largest business to business awards in the building control sector, recognising quality 

in all types of building project. 

• Best High-Volume Housing Development – Rufford Pastures, Edwinstowe, 

Mansfield 

• Best Non-Residential Construction Professional – Robert Woodhead Ltd 

• Best Public Service Building – Visitor Centre, Wyndham Park, Grantham  

• Best Small Commercial Project – RSPB Visitor Centre, Sherwood Forest, 

Nottingham 
 

Legal Entity Structure 

3.10 Currently the partnership arrangement is based on a simple 3-way equal split with all work 

and accounting operated as one single trading area, surpluses or deficits shared 3 ways 

equally. EMBC is delivered by SKDC on behalf of each partner. A partnership agreement 

exists between the three partners.  

Business Location  

3.11 EMBC is delivered by SKDC whose offices are at St Peters Hill, Grantham, NG31 6PZ. 

17



 

 
 

3.12 All technical and operating equipment is provided by SKDC, including office space. On 

average an officer is in the office 1 day per fortnight for office time, the rest of the time they 

operate in conjunction with their flexible homeworking arrangements or on site. 

Management structure 

3.13 EMBC operates with a partnership board, which has primary responsibility for overseeing 

the operational management and delivery of the joint building control partnership, and 

associated Business Planning. Membership has officer representatives from each partner. 

The service is managed internally by an experienced team of officers. 

 

Figure 1 – Organisational Chart 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Products and Services  

3.14 The services that are provided by the Building Control Service are associated with: 

• Building Regulations – Inspections  

• Building Regulations – Plan Checking   

• Dangerous Buildings 

• Demolitions  

• Derelict Buildings 

• Enforcement  

• Structural Design Checks  
 

3.15 In additional to these Building Regulation work and statutory functions, EMBC also offers 

the following consultancy services:  

• Structural Engineering Services 

• Energy Performance Assessment 

• Fire Risk Assessments 
 

Financial Performance  

3.16 Table1 below sets out the financial performance for the EMBC partnership in 2019/20. As 

can be seen the partnership made a small surplus on the fee earning work. This is split 

equally between the 3 partners. Similarly, the non-fee earning work cost £227,737 and has 

been split equally between the 3 partners resulting in a charge to SKDC of £75,912. SKDC 

currently also receives a management fee from the two other partners of £20,000 each. 

Building Control 

Manager 

 

 

Surveyors Technician 

Building Control Lead 

Officer 

 

 

Office Administrator 

Building Control 

 

 
Support Officers 

18



 

 
 

Table 2 below shows the estimated outturn for this year for the fee earning and non-fee 

earning services. Current forecasts indicate a surplus of £18,786 for this year on latest 

predictions.  

Table 1 EMBC Building Control – fee earning and non-fee earning Actuals 2019/20 

EMBC Fee Earning 

2019/20 

£ 

Non-Fee Earning 

2019/20 

£ 

Total 

2019/20 

£ 

Total income (642,969) (21,227) (664,195) 

Total expenditure 633,738 248,964 882,701 

 (9,231) Surplus 227,737 218,506 

 

Table 2 EMBC Building Control – fee earning and non-fee earning Estimates 2020/21 

EMBC Fee Earning 

2020/21 

£ 

Non-Fee Earning 

2020/21 

£ 

Total 

2020/21 

£ 

Total income (625,000) 21,500 646,500 

Total expenditure 606,214 237,413 843,627 

 (18,786) Surplus 215,913 197,127 

 

Table 3 SKDC Building Control Surplus Position 

SKDC Actuals 

2019/20 

£ 

Estimated 

2020/21 

£ 

Surplus b/fwd 30,853 33,930 

In year surplus (third of 
£9,231/£18,786) 

3,077 6,262 

Surplus c/fwd 33,930 40,192 

 

3.17 South Kesteven had a trading deficit of £104,423 in July 2014 when the partnership 

commenced. This has been reduced over time and now shows a surplus of £33,930 at the 

end of last year. Surpluses are retained as part of the EMBC trading account and allow for 

future investment in the service and a financial buffer for when trading difficulties arise. 

3.18 The Building Control (Local Authority Charges) Regulations 2010 govern the fee earning 

core element of the Building Control Service. Non-Fee earning work (safety related 

services) represents an unavoidable cost to a Local Authority/the Partnership in the form 

of statutory services and cannot be subsidised from Building Regulation fee income. 

 

 

19



 

 
 

4 Covid19 Impacts and Work Activity 

4.1 In response to the direct downturn in building work and the associated reduction in 

building control application fee income, the partnership decided to furlough some staff 

under the Job Retention Scheme from April 2020. As work activity resumed staff gradually 

returned until all were back by mid-August 2020. Whilst the levels of work did fall 

significantly during the first lockdown the volumes of work have since returned to higher 

levels than normally expected. Chart 1 below shows a comparison of application activity 

year on year. This upturn in work volume was a significant challenge to the team and they 

have managed the situation showing great resilience and dedication. The overall result is 

that the additional fee income will place the service in a much better position than 

originally anticipated.  
 

 

Chart 1 comparison of applications 
  

4.2 Chart 2 below shows the directly associated levels of income impacted due to the 

variations in work activity during year. It shows the shortfall against target in the early 

months during the first Covid lockdown and its improvement as the restrictions eased. The 

levels of building work recovered as material suppliers came permanently back on stream. 

The income levels exceed targets from September onwards. 

 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

April May June July August September October November December January

A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
s 

re
ce

iv
ed

Months 

Comparison of Applications received between April 2019/2020 
through to January 2020/2021 

2019 2020

£0

£10,000

£20,000

£30,000

£40,000

£50,000

£60,000

£70,000

£80,000

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Building Control Income by Month

2020/21 Budget 2020/21 Actual 2019/20 Actual

20



 

 
 

Chart 2 building control income by month 

5 Business Plan  

5.1 Whilst EMBC is not allowed to make a profit it must act commercially to compete with 

Approved Inspectors operating in the area. Due to this commercial nature of the operation 

the Abridged Business Plan attached is exempt. 

5.2 The Abridged Business Plan covers the following areas:  

• Background 

• Partnership management 

• Products and services 

• Market opportunities 

• Competition 

• Financial performance and forecasts 

 

6 Overall Position 

6.1 The partnership is a significant success. Overall service performance is very good 

providing excellent value for money for all stakeholders. 

7 Available Options Considered 

7.1 Any additional recommendations to support the ongoing partnership are welcomed within 

the preferred option. 

8 Preferred Option 

8.1 That this report and appended abridged business plan is noted with any recommendations 

made to support the ongoing partnership. 

9 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

9.1 To support the ongoing success of the EMBC partnership. 

10 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

10.1 Continued ongoing marketing and delivery of EMBC services. 

11 Financial Implications  

11.1 The financial information contained in the report is based on the actual financial position 

for 2019/20 and the forecast position for 2020/21.   The accounting treatment of recording 

both fee earning and non-fee earning activity is undertaken in accordance with the 

necessary legislative accounting requirements. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 

12 Legal and Governance Implications  

12.1 There are no legal implications arising from this report, however in governance terms, 

members of this committee are tasked with looking at the business plan and model and 

are able to make any recommendations to the partnership and to Cabinet as need be. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance 

21



 

 
 

13 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

13.1 No specific issues identified. 

14 Risk and Mitigation 

14.1 This is set out in appendix 1. 

15 Community Safety Implications  

15.1 No specific issues identified. 

16 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

16.1 No specific issues identified. 

17 Other Implications (where significant)  

17.1 None. 

18 Background Papers 

18.1 None. 

19 Appendices 

19.1 Appendix 1: EMBC Abridged Business Plan 

This appendix is exempt under paragraph 3, Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 

1972 (as amended) because it contains information relating to the financial or business 

affairs of an individual or organisation. 

 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

N/A 

Previously Considered by:  N/A 

Final Decision date   23 February 2021 

 

22



Document is Restricted

23

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Companies Committee 
23 February 2021 

Report of: Councillor Barry Dobson 

  The Deputy Leader of the Council 

         
  

 

LeisureSK Ltd Business Plan 2021/22 

This report provides an update on the successful establishment of LeisureSK Ltd and the 
submission of the Business Plan for 2021/22. 
 

 

 

Report Author 

Karen Whitfield, Head of Leisure 

 
01476 406239 

 karen.whitfield@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Growth Administrative Two or more Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Paul Stokes, Head of Corporate Operations 5 February 2021 

Approved by: Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 12 February 2021 

Signed off by: Councillor Barry Dobson, The Deputy Leader of the 
Council 

15 February 2021 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

It is recommended that Companies Committee: 

1. Approves the Business Plan for LeisureSK Ltd to cover the period January 2021 to 
March 2022. 

2. Agrees to undertake formal scrutiny to assess the performance of LeisureSK Ltd  
against the Business Plan twice a year. 

51

Agenda Item 7

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 On the 18 August 2020 Cabinet made a decision to transfer the leisure service to a wholly-

owned Council company on the expiry of the Council’s leisure management contract with 

Leisure in the Community (trading as 1Life). 

1.2 This decision was endorsed by Companies Committee at a meeting held on the 22 

September 2020.   

1.3 At a further meeting held on the 21 October 2020 Companies Committee: 

a) Noted the work that had been undertaken to establish the optimal company structure 

 for LeisureSK Ltd to ensure the company would be financially efficient and could 

 benefit from savings in relation to VAT and business rates. 

b) Endorsed the Articles and Association, Members Agreement and Resourcing 

 Agreement as the main governance documents setting out the Council’s relationship 

 with LeisureSK Ltd. 

c) Endorsed the five-year high-level budget presented. 

d) Agreed to receive a detailed business plan from the Directors of LeisureSK Ltd at the 

 earliest opportunity once the company had been fully established and the Directors 

 were in place. 

e) Endorsed the recruitment of a Non-Executive Director with leisure industry specific 

 experience to complement the Board of Directors for LeisureSK Ltd. 

1.4 At a meeting of the Council on the 1 October 2020 Members agreed the proposal to recruit 

a Non-Executive Director for LeisureSK Ltd and appointed Cllr Barry Dobson, the Deputy 

Leader of the Council as the initial sole Director of the company until further Director 

appointments could be considered. 

1.5 At a further meeting of the Council on the 26 November 2020 the following additional 

Directors were appointed: 

- The Leader of the Council, Cllr Kelham Cooke 

- The Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources, Cllr Adam Stokes 

- The Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy, Cllr Rosemary Trollope-

Bellew 

- Chief Executive of the Council, Karen Bradford 

- The Director of Growth and Culture once appointed (this is currently a vacant post). 

1.6 In addition to the Director appointments, at the meeting of the Council on the 26 November 

2020 delegated authority was provided to the Chief Executive to appoint the Non-Executive 

Director to the Board of LeisureSK Ltd on the successful completion of the recruitment 

process.  Furthermore, the Council approved a budget not exceeding £500,000 be provided 

to LeisureSK Ltd to support the company for the first year (1 January – 31 December 2020) 

of its operation by way of a management fee. 

1.7 The contract with 1Life ended on the 31 December 2020, this was earlier than the official 

contract end date, and was mutually agreed with 1Life in order to facilitate a smooth 

transition to the new arrangements.  LeisureSK Ltd took over the management of the 

Council’s leisure centres from the 1st January 2021. 

52



 

 
 

1.8 In line with the current national lockdown restrictions the leisure centres have remained 

closed since 4 January 2021.  

1.9 Since this time LeisureSK Ltd has had the benefit of a level of income as the table tennis 

centre at Grantham Meres Leisure Centre is currently being used as a Covid-19 vaccination 

centre. The Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) are paying a hire fee for the facility which 

includes the reimbursement of the cost of staffing resources which are required to open and 

close the building. 

1.10 In December 2020 the Council were successful in appointing a Non-Executive Director to 

complement the Board of Directors.  The successful applicant is David Monkhouse, a copy 

of his CV is attached at Appendix One with his personal information redacted.  David has a 

significant amount of leisure specific knowledge and experience and was formally appointed 

to the Board of Directors in January 2021.  He has worked at a senior level within the leisure 

industry for a number of years, currently manages his own leisure consultancy business and 

is also an elected Trustee for the Chartered Institute for the Management of Sport and 

Physical Activity (CIMSPA). 

1.11 Since January 2021 the Board of Directors have taken the necessary steps to ensure that 

the operational costs of the centres are being minimised whilst they remain closed, this 

includes the appropriate use of the furlough scheme.  Currently the staff who remain actively 

employed are those who are required to undertake operational and health and safety checks 

across the facilities and those who are required for the vaccination centre.   

1.12 The five-year business plan which was presented to Companies Committee on the 21 

October 2020 considered the projected impact of Covid-19 on the operational and financial 

performance of LeisureSK Ltd and was based on the information available at the time.  

However, this did not account for the two subsequent periods of closure or the impact of tier 

restrictions. 

1.13 In order to assess the ongoing impact of the Covid-19 pandemic the Council have 

commissioned Sport and Leisure Consultancy Ltd (SLC) to revisit the original budget 

projections and develop a revised two year business plan for LeisureSK Ltd to cover the 

period January 2021 to December 2022. 

1.14 Given the uncertainty around how long the current national lockdown will remain in force, 

SLC have endeavoured to make an accurate assessment based on information on the 

previous recovery rates when the centres have been able to open, and have taken account 

of leisure industry benchmarks. 

1.15 However, given the current uncertainty, it has been necessary to apply some assumptions 

to the operational business plan which are listed below: 

a) All leisure facilities are assumed to remain closed under lockdown or tier-based 

 restrictions until April 2021. 

b) Lockdown staff costs have been based on actual Job Retention Scheme costs 

 provided by LeisureSK Ltd.  National insurance costs have been added and employer 

 pension costs have been included for all salaried staff including those on furlough. 

c) All other income and expenditure assumptions have been based on actual 

 performance from the period April 2020 to June 2020 when the facilities were 

 previously closed. 

53



 

 
 

d) Income has been included for the use of Grantham Meres as a vaccination centre at 

 £4300 per month for the hire fee, staff recharges have also been included at a rate 

 of £1080 per week. 

e) Facilities are forecast to re-open from April 2021 and income levels have been based 

 on the actuals for July and August 2020 when the facilities were able to open after the 

 first period of lockdown.   

f) Expenditure levels have been forecast using the actuals from July and August 

 2020 and have been linked to anticipated income levels. 

g) It has been assumed that the furlough scheme will close at the end of April 2021 and 

 therefore from May 2021 staff costs have been based on the return of salaried staff as 

 a basis, with a gradual increase of casual staff costs and overtime over the following 

 months.  Again, this has been linked to income projections. 

h) Income and expenditure levels are forecast to return to steady state by April 2022. 

1.16 The revised forecast provided by SLC can be used as the basis for the Council to agree an 

appropriate management fee for LeisureSK Ltd for the financial year 2021/22, and will also 

be used by the Board of Directors to agree the target setting and financial management of 

LeisureSK Ltd. 

1.17 The Business Plan for LeisureSK Ltd is attached at Appendix Two.  To enable the Council 

to assess the level of support that will be required by LeisureSK Ltd, and to bring the 

business plan in line with the Council’s financial year, the first year of the business plan has 

been extended to cover the period January 2021 to the end of March 2022. 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 Companies Committee have previously considered and endorsed the establishment of 

LeisureSK Ltd at the meetings held on the 22 September 2020 and 21 October 2020.   

2.2 At the meeting of Companies Committee held on the 21 October 2020 it was recommended 

that a detailed Business Plan would be presented by the Directors of LeisureSK Ltd to 

Companies Committee at the earliest opportunity once the company had been fully 

established and the Directors had been appointed. 

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 This report contains the Business Plan which has been developed for LeisureSK Ltd to 

cover the period January 2021 to March 2022.  Income and Expenditure forecasts have 

been revisited to incorporate the ongoing impact of the Covid-19 pandemic. 

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 That Companies Committee endorse the 2021/22 Business Plan for LeisureSK Ltd and 

agree to receive regular scrutiny reports on the financial and operational performance of the 

company. 

4.2 It is proposed that Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee will 

receive a report twice a year which details the company’s performance against the contract 

key performance indicators.  This information will also include details on the usage of the 

centres, customer comments and complaints. 

 

54



 

 
 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 This report and accompanying Business Plan detail the work that has been undertaken to 

fully establish LeisureSK Ltd as an operational business. 

5.2 The forecasts previously submitted have been updated to include the ongoing impact of the 

Covid-19 pandemic on the performance of the company. 

5.3 The Business Plan produced for 2021/22 provides a robust basis upon which Companies 

Committee can scrutinise the operational and financial performance of LeisureSK Ltd over 

the first fifteen-months of its operation. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 The Directors of LeisureSK Ltd will be responsible for the operational and financial 

performance of the company.  The Business Plan and revised financial forecast will form 

the basis for target setting and used as a benchmark to assess the performance of the 

company. 

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 In the current environment it remains very hard to predict the income and expenditure of 

LeisureSK Ltd.  Expert consultancy support has been commissioned to assess the ongoing 

impact of Covid-19 on the business of LeisureSK Ltd and the Council can therefore be 

reasonably comfortable with the overall approach and assumptions that have been made in 

the development of the business plan for 2021/22. 

7.2 In addition to this it is also difficult to predict how existing customers will respond when the 

centres are able to open once again and what the level of demand may be.  Therefore, the 

Business Plan details some sensitivity analysis which has been carried out to assess the 

position if the centres perform better or worse than the assumptions that have been used. 

7.3 The management fee of £500k for the calendar year of 2021 was based on previous trading 

and operational costings before the current lockdown was introduced.  Therefore, it is 

reasonable to assume that the amount of the fee will need to be reviewed and updated once 

there is greater clarity of the phased re-opening of the centres and the subsequent trading 

performance.  This review will be subject to further updates to Members at the appropriate 

time.   

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 The Committee will need to satisfy itself that the Business Plan for 2021/22 is sufficiently 

robust and appropriate.  The Council as owner will be required to oversee and scrutinise the 

company’s performance through the Companies committee in the same way as it does for 

the other companies which are owned by the Council.  Given the challenges and uncertainty 

around the timescales for opening the leisure facilities and the ongoing impact of Covid-19, 

it may be appropriate that Companies Committee requests an update on company activity 

at every meeting in the first year of the company’s operation. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

55



 

 
 

9.1 LeisureSK Ltd has an Equality and Diversity Policy and a Safeguarding Policy which have 

been adopted by the Board of Directors. 

9.2 The Board of Directors will need to ensure that these policies are fully implemented and 

that the staff employed in the leisure centres, and the customers that use them are kept 

safe and not disadvantaged in any way. 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 The Board of Directors are developing a Risk Register for LeisureSK Ltd which will include 

existing and emerging risks to the business together with mitigating actions.  The Directors 

will be responsible for maintaining the Risk Register and implementing any actions which 

may be required to protect LeisureSK Ltd, and the Council as owner of the company. 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 None arising from this report. 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 The Council’s leisure facilities currently account for 41.5% of the Council’s carbon 

emissions.  The Directors and management of LeisureSK Ltd remain committed to the 

efficient management of carbon emissions and will explore any future opportunities that 

arise to establish the associated costs and benefits. 

12.2 As part of the Council’s leisure improvement plans the introduction of carbon efficient 

measures will be considered as part of the planned improvements to the leisure centres. 

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 None arising from this report. 

14 Appendices 

14.1 Appendix One – NED CV 

14.2 Appendix Two – LeisureSK Ltd Business Plan 2021/22 

14.3 Appendix Three - Exempt Information from the Business Plan 

 

 

 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

N/A 

Previously Considered by:  N/A 

Final Decision date   23 February 2021 

 

56



57



Personal 
 

• Showing resourcefulness and versatility in responding to changing demands and opportunities. 
• Presenting to all levels of colleagues up to and including board level and external clients. 
• Demonstrating a positive outlook, maintaining a “can do” attitude in the face of obstacles. 

 
Director – Leisure-net Solutions www.leisure-net.org    01.04.14 - present 
 
I merged my consulting business with leisure-net in order to offer my clients greater insight and to enhance the development of the training and development 
arm of Leisure-net solutions. We manage the National Benchmarking Service on behalf of Sport England, are joint partners in the delivery of Sport England’s 
Quest quality mark, http://www.questnbs.org/ deliver insight and research for major contractors, the London Legacy Development Corporation and a number 
of Trusts. We have completed business development projects with Sheffield International Venues and British Rowing. Our customer insight platform is used 
by 750 centres and I have recently developed a suite of on-line training. Leisure- net is an accredited user of the Net Promoter Score. We run an annual buyer 
meets supplier networking event http://active-net.org/ attended by 150 decision makers in the sector. We are currently the ‘critical friend’ of the University of 
Portsmouth £53m sports facility. Over lockdown we have surveyed 112,000 fitness and swimming lesson customers providing insight to representative 
organisations, Government and individual operators and carried out stakeholder consultation with 5 Local Authorities looking at new builds or procurement. 
 
Member Elected Trustee – Chartered Institute for the Management of Sport and Physical Activity and chair of the Audit and Probity Committee. 
         2015 - Present  
 
 
Director – David Monkhouse Consulting    12.06.07 – 01.04.14 
 
Created own consultancy firm offering quality solutions to the Leisure industry. Delivery of training seminars on Customer Care, Health and Safety, Time 
Management, Kick Start and Quest Internal Assessors. Worked with SkillsActive and Sport England as a Work Force Development Resource in Yorkshire and 
Humber. Act as the Client Monitoring Officer for Mid Bedfordshire District Council. Current projects include Change management and restructure of 
Loughborough University’s Sports Development Centre, the construction and delivery of a Duty Manager development programme for Leicester City Council 
and the supporting via risk assessment and training of teaching assistants, the integration of disabled children into main stream education. I delivered change 
management projects with Warwick University Sport and Wolverhampton Council Leisure Services. I created and delivered customer experience training via 
the BEE programme with a number of authorities and the London Legacy Development Corporation. 
 
 
QUEST EXTERNAL ASSESSOR     June 01 – present 
 

• Quest is a nationally recognised quality service award with over 1050 accreditations. I have assessed 220 different sites (failed 4). Have always 
received excellent feedback from Centres and the colleague teams. 

58



 
UKActive Code of Practice Evaluator + outdoors   June 08 – present 
 

• The UKActive COP is an evaluate code for Health Clubs and Fitness Clubs. I have carried out 100 evaluations to date. 
 
UKActive Flame assessor      April 11 - present 
 

• UKActive Flame awards are the industry standards for performance in fitness clubs across the country. I have assessed 50 clubs and have assessed 
all category awards (Go Green, Healthy Partnerships, Active Workplaces etc.) 

 
SPORTS & LEISURE MANAGEMENT LTD 
Group Customer Service Manager                                         May 01 – June 07 
 
SLM managed 56 leisure facilities on behalf of 13 Local Authorities.  My role as Group Customer Services Manager was to provide advice and guidance on all 
aspects of Health and Safety, quality service and Personnel management ensuring that the organisation meets its legal obligations. My key objectives are to 
improve service quality and the retention of colleagues through training and development.   
 
Major Achievements: 
 

• Wrote and implemented a Health and Safety policy manual currently in operation at 56 sites which includes standard daily safety operational 
checklists to improve Health, Safety and standards inspection. 

• Improved customer service through developing standards, introducing mystery visits and supporting sites through Quest which has been achieved by 
30 sites to date, one of which has third highest score in country. 

• Responsible for establishing and maintaining personnel management guidance manual. This includes templates on recruitment and selection, 
appointment and contracts, performance management, personnel development, grievance and discipline and personnel records.   

• Implemented a training and development process for all colleagues from induction to advanced management development.  This includes standard 
inductions, company orientations, Health and Safety such as Control of Substances Hazardous to Health. 

• Delivered Service Excellence Programme and Management Development programme alongside an external consultant to 40 Managers. The creation 
of a programme to train colleagues to deliver on site training covering: customer interaction, service quality and magic moments and understanding 
how service effects the customer’s experience. 

• Coordinated three successful re validations of the Investors in People standard.  
• Review of all standards and the communication of continuous improvement to Board and Business Development Team. 
• Lead signatory for all Criminal Records Bureau Disclosure applications. 

59



• Instigation of NVQ agreement with Lifetime in Operations, Fitness, Customer Care and sales that lead to 130 successful accreditations and a further 
120 colleagues studying for award. 

 
 
BOLTON METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Operations Manager                                          Apr 97 – May 01 
 
Before April 1997 
 
Employed within Local Authorities in various operational management roles including Wychavon District Council, Gloucester and Worcester City Councils. 
 
EDUCATION AND QUALIFICATIONS 
 

• MBA in International Sports Management at Loughborough University 
• Chartered Fellow CIMSPA 
• Effective Chair Programme  - Sports Governance Academy 
• Preparing to Teach in the Lifelong Learner Sector Level 4 
• Assessor qualified to D32 and D33 
• Quest External assessor 
• Fitness Industry Association evaluator 
• Diploma member of the Institute of Sport and Recreation Management 
• NEBOSH Health and Safety Certificate 
• Diploma in Management Studies 
• Certificate in Management Studies 
• City & Guilds Recreation and Leisure Studies 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

60



61



Equal Opportunities Monitoring Form 
(Confidential) 
 

All applicants have the right to be treated with fairness and equity. We will not therefore, discriminate against any person 
because of their sex, transgender, religion or belief, race, age, disability or sexual orientation. 

 
To enable us to monitor our recruitment process, I should be grateful if you would complete this form. As with all information 
you give us it will be regarded as strictly confidential and will be separated from your application. 

62



63



64



65



Page 10 of 10 
 
 

66



Appendix 2 

 

 

 
  

Version Purpose Author Date 

1.0 Document Creation K Whitfield January 2021 

    

LeisureSK Limited 
Business Plan 2021/22 

67



1 
 

Table of Contents 

I. Executive Summary ............................................................................................. 2 

II. Background of Business ....................................................................................... 2 

Company Ownership/Legal Entity Structure 

Products and Services 

Suppliers 

Debt 

Management 

Org Chart 

HR Strategy 

Financial Management 

SWOT Analysis 

III. Marketing and sales .......................................................................................... 16 

Marketing and Sales Support 

Market Analysis 

Pricing 

IV. Actuals and Projections ..................................................................................... 19 

 

68



2 
 

Executive Summary 

 LeisureSK Ltd was established in September 2020 to take over the management of the Council’s 

four leisure facilities on the expiry of the previous leisure contract with Leisure in the 

Community Ltd (trading as 1Life).    The company is wholly-owned by South Kesteven District 

Council.   

The new arrangement, although not without financial risk for the Council, has enabled the 

Council to regain managerial and operational control of the facilities, providing the opportunity 

to maximise income, control costs and increase performance.  This will be vital in allowing the 

Council to mitigate the current and future implications of the Covid-19 pandemic. 

In the short-term a key role for LeisureSK Ltd will be to mitigate the impact of any future 

lockdowns and associated recovery periods in order to limit the Council’s financial exposure.  

Going forward LeisureSK Ltd will need to concentrate on rebuilding and growing the customer 

base, this will be instrumental in the ongoing success of the Company. 

The Council has entered into a leisure management contract with LeisureSK Ltd for a period of 

three years, with the ability to extend this arrangement for a maximum of two further years.  

As the Council are providing deficit funding to the company it will be vital that the company 

adopts robust managerial, operational and financial procedures and that opportunities to 

increase income and control expenditure are maximised. 

The Board of Directors of LeisureSK Ltd will be responsible for the operation and performance 

of LeisureSK Ltd.  The Council’s Head of Leisure, supported by the Leisure Team, will act at the 

Council’s representative, undertaking a robust contract monitoring role and ensuring that the 

objectives of the contract and the key performance indicators are achieved. The Council’s 

Companies Committee will have a valued scrutiny role and will receive twice yearly updates on 

operational and financial performance.  

The establishment of LeisureSK Ltd is a direct result of the Covid-19 pandemic and the impact 

that this has had on the leisure operator market.  Initially this arrangement is seen as a medium-

term solution until such time as the leisure market recovers from the impact of Covid-19.  At 

this time a further assessment will be made whether the arrangements should continue or 

whether there are additional merits in outsourcing the leisure service. 

 
 
 
 

Background of Business 

 

 

The Council’s leisure management contract with 1Life was due to expire on the 2nd January 

2021, the contract was ended earlier by mutual agreement on the 31st December 2021 to 

facilitate a smoother transfer to the new arrangement. 

Since March 2020, under the terms of the previous leisure contract, the Council have been 

responsible for providing significant financial support to 1Life.  This financial support will need 

69



3 
 

to be assessed and continue to be provided retrospectively to cover up to the end of the 

contract in December 2020.  The amount of funding required has varied month to month 

according to the operational shortfall between the reduced level of income received against 

expenditure.  The methodology for assessing the financial support provided to 1Life was agreed 

by Council in July 2020. 

The main driver for the establishment of LeisureSK Ltd, and the transfer of the management of 

the Council’s leisure facilities to the company, was to mitigate the impact of Covid-19.  In 

funding the operational shortfall of an external contractor, the Council were responsible for all 

of the financial risk in relation to the performance of the leisure contract but had little 

operational control over how those facilities were operated.  Cabinet had originally agreed to 

extend the leisure contract with 1Life for a period of 15 months in order to procure a new 

arrangement, however it became apparent that due to the instability Covid-19 had caused in 

the leisure operator market, that it would not be possible for the Council to secure an 

advantageous contract at that time.  Therefore, alternative options were assessed, and as a 

result Cabinet decided that the opportunity to set up a Local Authority Trading Company was 

the most favourable outcome.  This was endorsed at a meeting of Companies Committee on 

the 22nd September 2020.  

LeisureSK Ltd took over the management of the Council’s leisure facilities on the 1st January 

2021.  There are four leisure facilities in total providing a range of memberships and pay-as-you 

go for leisure activities both for individuals and sports clubs and organisations.  These centres 

are an important Council asset in keeping our residents active and healthy. 

Under the management of the previous contractor, the centres have suffered from negative 

perception, particularly in terms of cleanliness and the maintenance of the facilities.  The 

Council are currently undertaking feasibility work to determine how best to improve the leisure 

facilities.  LeisureSK Ltd have taken over the management of established business, and 

therefore their focus will be to improve the operation of the facilities and the level of service 

offered, to grow the numbers of members and users of the facilities, and to improve customer 

satisfaction levels and perception.   

A formal leisure management contract has been entered into between the Council and 

LeisureSK Ltd, an intrinsic part of this is the Leisure Specification which sets out the level of 

operational standards the Council expects the company to achieve.  This also includes a set of 

key performance indicators which will be used to assess the company’s performance against a 

range of targets including increasing usage and customer satisfaction. 

As the majority of the staff employed in the operation of the leisure facilities have transferred 

to LeisureSK Ltd from 1Life there will be a focus of ensuring that the staff receive a 

comprehensive induction and training process that clearly sets out the standards expected. 

 

 

 

The principal features that will contribute to making the company attractive to customers are: 

 

70



4 
 

• Location and accessibility  

• Universal – the facilities are available to all 

• Established – the facilities are well known in their localities 

• Trusted – backed by South Kesteven District Council, there is confidence that the 

facilities will continue to operate 

• Price 

• Wide range of activities offered 

• Attractive family offer 

  

 

Company Ownership/Legal Entity Structure 

 LeisureSK Ltd has been established as a not-for-profit company which is limited by guarantee.  

It is a Teckal company, wholly-owned by South Kesteven District Council, for the purposes of 

the management and operation of the leisure facilities within the District.   

The company is focused on providing leisure management services to South Kesteven District 

Council and it is not intended to seek out opportunities to provide these services more widely.  

The Teckal status of the company has allowed the Council to directly award the management 

of the leisure service to LeisureSK Ltd without going through a competitive procurement 

process and in order to maintain this status at least 80% of work undertaken by LeisureSK Ltd 

will need to be on behalf of the Council.  

As LeisureSK Ltd has been incorporated as a not for profit company, this has allowed a VAT 

exemption to be applied to the majority of the services the company offers.  This includes gym 

memberships, casual gym use, swimming, personal training, hire of sports facilities and 

coaching/training sessions.  In addition to this the company is in the process of applying for 

discretionary business rate relief, which can be granted under South Kesteven District Council’s 

current discretionary rate relief policy up to a maximum of 100%. 

The Articles of Association list the company’s objects as follows: 

a)       to provide leisure, sports and cultural facilities and services; 

b) to liaise and co-operate with all interested groups within the community to develop 

 and deliver this service; 

c) to promote and enter into partnerships or arrangements of all kinds to improve or 

 extend the facilities and services offered; 

d) to explore all avenues of funding and finance for such services; 

e) to improve health and wellbeing through a range of outcomes, including reduced 

 obesity, reduced anti-social behavior and narrowing the health inequality gap; 

f) to increase jobs, strengthening the local economy and enable children, young people 

 and adults to learn and be ready for work; 

g) to carry on any other trade or business which in the opinion of the Directors is in the 

 best interest of the company or the Council; and 

71



5 
 

h) without prejudice to any of the objects listed above to carry on any trade or business 

 of a general commercial company. 

Subject to the company objects the Directors of LeisureSK Ltd will be responsible for the 

management of the company’s business.  The Council retains many rights as the owner of the 

company and has the power to request that Directors either take or refrain from any specified 

actions, and to ensure that strategies are aligned with the Council’s corporate objectives.  

The Members Agreement governs the Council’s relationship with LeisureSK Ltd and details the 

reports and information the Council will be entitled to receive.  This also details the process of 

receiving and agreeing the company’s business plan, which will be presented to Companies 

Committee annually for scrutiny before being agreed. 

It has been necessary to ensure that LeisureSK Ltd is identified as a totally separate entity to 

the Council.  This is especially important for VAT purposes so that the company’s activities do 

not negatively impact the Council’s partial exemption position. Therefore, formal arrangements 

have been put in place which further govern the Council’s relationship with LeisureSK Ltd, 

including a formal leisure contract arrangement and appropriate leasehold arrangements.   

  

 

72



6 
 

Business Location / Company Assets 

 

 

 

LeisureSK Ltd is responsible for the operation of established facilities which each have existing 

customer and membership bases, although the memberships of the individual sites have decreased 

significantly as a result of the implications of Covid-19.  

The four leisure centres operated by LeisureSK Ltd are in the following locations: 

Grantham Meres Leisure Centre and Football Stadium – Trent Road, Grantham 

 

• The original Table Tennis Centre was built in 1991 

• The leisure Centre extension was added 1998 

• This is the largest and newest facility in the Council’s leisure portfolio 

• The facility is owned by SKDC, as is the neighbouring Football Stadium 

• Annual usage in 2019/20 was 663,239  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

73



7 
 

 

Bourne Leisure Centre – Queen’s Road, Bourne 

 

 

• Built in 1988 

• The facility owned by Lincolnshire County Council and leased to Bourne Academy 

• Used by SKDC under a Chance to Share Agreement 

• Bourne Academy have priority of the sports hall daytime only 

• Annual usage in 2019/20 was 191,884 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

74



8 
 

 

 

Deepings Leisure Centre – Park Road, Deeping St. James 

 

 

• Built in 1974, this is the oldest facility in the Council’s leisure portfolio 

• The facility is owned by Lincolnshire County Council  

• There are no formal arrangements in place which govern the relationship between the 

school and SKDC 

• It is a dual use centre which adjoins Deepings School 

• The school have priority use of the pool and sports hall during daytime  

• Annual usage in 2019/20 was 274,961 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

75



9 
 

Stamford Leisure Pool – Drift Road, Stamford 

 

 

• Built in 1986 

• The facility is owned by SKDC 

• It is predominantly a leisure pool with small gym facility 

• Annual usage in 2019/20 was 156,246 

  

 

Products and Services 

 The services offered across the company vary in line with the individual facilities but include: 

• Gym membership 

• Swimming (general swim, swimming lessons, school swimming and pool hire) 

• Other sports facilities hire (one-off and block bookings) 

Secondary income is generated through café and bar (in the case of Grantham Meres), 

through concessions for cafés and vending, and from minor retail (primary swimwear). 

A summary of the facilities available at the individual sites is as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

76



10 
 

 

Grantham Bourne Stamford Deepings 

70 Station Gym 40 Station Gym 15 Station Gym 30 Station Gym 

2 Group 
Exercise Studios 

Group Exercise 
Studio     

Indoor Cycling 
Studio     

Indoor Cycling 
Studio 

6 Court Sports 
Hall 

4 Court Sports 
Hall   

4 Court Sports 
Hall 

8 Lane 
Competition 
Pool     

6 Lane 
Competition 
Pool 

Learner Pool     Learner Pool 

Leisure Pool 
with Flume 

Leisure Pool 
with Flume & 
Other Features 

Leisure Pool 
with Flume & 
Other Features   

Climbing Wall     Squash Courts 

Table Tennis 
Centre       

3G Synthetic 
Pitch       

Meeting Rooms       

Café       

 

Agreed parameters for pricing are agreed with the Council on an annual basis.  The pricing 
strategy will aim to balance income generation with ensuring that the facilities are accessible 
to all residents, and the usage of the centres is increased. 

 

 

 

Suppliers 

 There are several key products and services which are required by the Company in order to 

operate smoothly.  These fall primarily into the following categories: 

• Utilities – electricity, gas and oil (in the case of Deepings Leisure Centre); 

• ICT – phones and software are required to communicate with customers, manage 

bookings, and to collect usage and financial performance information; 

• Financial systems – systems for the taking and recording of payments, memberships via 

direct debits, and to provide financial reports; 

• Stock – maintenance and retail items, such as cleaning equipment, pool chemicals and 

food and drinks for café and bar. 

77



11 
 

As part of the end of contract arrangements with 1Life, the Council received a list of established 

contracts and suppliers.  Where appropriate contracts have been novated to LeisureSK Ltd, or 

new arrangements have been entered into with these suppliers.  Where this has not been 

appropriate, or where there have been opportunities for efficiencies, then alternative suppliers 

have been secured.  For example, LeisureSK Ltd have commissioned EnvironmentSK to collect 

waste from the four leisure facilities rather than the previous supplier.   

The key focus has been to ensure that the necessary contracts were in place, and supplier chains 

unaffected, so that the leisure centres could continue to function under the new management 

arrangement. 

All suppliers are to be paid via a standard invoice process or via a direct debit. 

 
 

Debt 

 LeisureSK Ltd is a wholly owned company owned by South Kesteven District Council. 

On the 1st October 2020 the Council approved a set up budget of £500,000 to cover the upfront 

costs of establishing the company, and to ensure the necessary arrangements were in place for 

the company to be operationally capable from January 2021. 

The high-level business plan endorsed by Companies Committee on the 21st October 2020 

demonstrated that over a five-year period the Council would be required to provide a 

management fee of circa £529K in order to support LeisureSK Ltd to cover any operational 

shortfalls during that period.  However, £470k (approximately 40%) of the five-year total would 

be required in year one of the contract and be a direct result of losses due to Covid-19.  

Unfortunately, the company were unable to commence operations in January 2021 due to the 

lockdown procedures in place, and therefore the business plan has been revisited to take into 

account the delayed operating and subsequent recovery period. 

LeisureSK Ltd is a not for profit company, so will be expected to break even and broadly 

maintain this position throughout the company’s life.  As the management fee to be provided 

by the Council will cover any operational shortfalls it is not envisaged that the company will 

need to borrow money in order to operate. 

The Council has paid £250k of the anticipated deficit funding for year one up front in order to 

provide cashflow for the company and cover the necessary expenditure whilst the centres are 

closed. 

 
 
 
 

Management 

 
The relationship between the Board of Directors, the Council’s Head of Leisure and the Leisure 

Contract Manager is demonstrated below: 

78



12 
 

 

The Board of Directors will be responsible for setting the overall strategy of the business and 

agreeing budgets, financial and performance targets, and setting policy and procedures.  These 

will be aligned with the leisure contract which has been entered into between LeisureSK Ltd 

and South Kesteven District Council. 

The Head of Leisure will act as the Owners Representative and will be the key ongoing contact 

point between the Company and the Council.  They will act on behalf of the Council for 

discussing and making decisions on items identified as requiring Owner Consent within the 

Members Agreement which has been adopted.   

The Council’s Leisure Team, headed up by the Head of Leisure,  will be responsible for 

implementing a robust contract monitoring system to drive service improvements at the 

individual sites, will be responsible for collating evidence in relation to achievement of the key 

performance indicators, and will challenge improvements where necessary.  This will be 

reported to the Board on a monthly basis. 

The Leisure Contract Manager will be the key lead for managing the operational and financial 

performance of the company and will report into the Board in this regard.  They will be the key 

conduit for two-way communication between the Board on the onsite teams and be 

responsible for agreeing and achieving targets for the leisure centres.   

Contract performance will be reported to the Board and areas for improvement will be agreed, 

which will be implemented by the Contract Manager and monitored by the Council’s Leisure 

Team. 

The Leisure Contract Manager will be supported by the onsite teams which have been 

transferred from the previous operator under TUPE Regulation.  These teams provide sound 

knowledge and experience of operations in the leisure centres they are responsible for, each 

site is headed up by a General Manager. 

A performance culture will be embedded throughput the organisation to ensure that the 

Council achieves the operational standards it has set out in the leisure services specification 

which forms part of the contract. 

It is proposed that Companies Committee will receive twice yearly updates on the performance 

of LeisureSK Ltd, which will include the setting and monitoring of the annual business plan and 

associated targets. 

LeisureSK Ltd 
Board of Directors

Leisure Contract 
Manager

Head of Leisure

79



13 
 

Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee will receive twice yearly 

updates on the performance of LeisureSK Ltd which will include usage information and detail 

how the company is performing in relation to the standards set within the leisure specification. 

 

Org Chart 

 The Directors of LeisureSK Ltd have been appointed by Council and are: 

• Cllr Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the Council; 

• Cllr Barry Dobson, the Deputy Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder; 

• Cllr Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources; 

• Cllr Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy; 

• Karen Bradford, Chief Executive of South Kesteven District Council; 

• David Monkhouse, Non-Executive Director; 

• Director of Growth and Culture – currently vacant. 

The Council were successful in recruiting a highly qualified and experienced Non-Executive 

Director who joined the Board in January 2021. 

David Monkhouse has over 20 years senior experience in leisure operations, is currently the 

Director of a company providing the National Benchmarking Service on behalf of Sports England 

and is a Trustee Member of the Chartered Institute for the Management of Sport and Physical 

Activity (CIMSPA). 

He has been specifically chosen to enhance the Board’s knowledge and experience of policy 

and operational delivery in the leisure industry.  A copy of David’s resume (with personal 

information redacted) can be found at Appendix One to this business case. 

 

 

 

 

 

On Site Teams 

The operational management structure for LeisureSK Ltd is shown below. 

80



14 
 

 

A Fitness Development Manager has been recruited and will commence employment on the 1st 

March 2021.  This will be a dedicated role with the responsibility to drive membership sales 

across the four sites, both attracting and retaining members as this area represents the largest 

income stream for the leisure centres.  It will be particularly important to target both new and 

lapsed users through a range of sales and marketing promotions and the role is being 

incentivised through a combination of basic salary and commission. 

A company induction pack has been developed to welcome employees to LeisureSK Ltd and a 

company handbook is in development which will be approved by the Board of Directors in due 

course.  

 

HR Strategy  

 External HR support has been secured for LeisureSK Ltd for an initial period of six months to 

support the transition to the new arrangements and the TUPE transfer of staff.  This is being 

provided by The HR Branch who were appointed through a competitive process, and whilst 

their quotation provided value for money, they also were able to demonstrate recent 

experience of supporting another Council through the end of contract process with 1Life. 

The HR Branch have been responsible for reviewing and updating the full range of HR policies, 

developing the staff handbook and implementing a company induction for all employees.  They 

are also providing on-going HR support and assisting with payroll during the initial six-month 

period. 

After that time an assessment will be made whether to continue with these arrangements or 

whether there is capacity for the Council to provide the support through a service level 

agreement. 

 

Leisure Services Manager

General Manager

Grantham

General Manager

Bourne

General Manager

Stamford

General Manager

Deepings

Swim Development 
Manager

Fitness Development  
Manager

(New - to commence March 
21)

81



15 
 

Financial Management 

 LeisureSK Ltd is constituted as a not-for-profit company.  The company will either receive a 

management fee payment for operating the facilities (in the case where there is an operational 

deficit, and whilst Covid-19 continues to have an impact) or will pay a fee to the Council if there 

is an operational surplus. 

The upfront costs relating to establishing the company were agreed by the Council on the 1st 

October 2020 and going forward the Council will continue to be responsible for maintenance 

of the buildings (except for minor repairs) as part of the terms of the lease arrangements. 

The accounting and financial systems which have been put in place are a series of interfaced 

solutions: 

• Gladstone MRM is a cloud-based customer relationship system which is being used for 

bookings and income receipts, this includes the ability to book online and via an App. 

• Fitness and swimming direct debits are processed on behalf of LeisureSK Ltd by 

Transaction Services Group (TSG) and these transactions will interface into the 

Gladstone MRM system. 

• Café and bar income (cash and card payments) will be taken through tills using EPOS 

Now and a daily summary of cash taken will be manually input into the Gladstone MRM 

system. 

• Sage is being used for invoice payments and payroll, and income received will be 

entered into the system, including the income received from Gladstone MRM and TSG. 

• Natwest will be used for business banking services and cash will be reconciled between 

Sage and the bank statements. 

 

Budget management will be undertaken primarily at the centre level, with centre managers 

being set income and expenditure targets at the start of each year as part of the business plan.  

Budget monitoring will be carried out monthly, supported by Sage system reports with 

managers asked to forecast for year end and explain variances from budget and previous 

forecasts.  Summarised reports will be presented to the Board and Companies Committee in 

line with agreed reporting frequency.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

SWOT Analysis 

 Strengths 

• Established venues and customer base 

• Retained experienced staff 

• Venues located at all population centres 

82



16 
 

• Established customer base/database of lapsed members 

• Marketing campaigns developed to attract and retain customers 

Weaknesses 

• Repairs backlog and old tired looking facilities 

• Newly established company, so no direct track record of success 

• It will take time to establish the company 

• Ongoing impact of Covid-19 including lockdown periods and social distancing 

Opportunities 

• Review business processes once operational 

• Planned renewal of centres should drive increased demand 

• Ability to rebrand and re-launch to be used to increase participation 

• Improve facilities in the short-term and improve customer experience/perception 

Threats 

• Reduced demand due to Covid-19 and people’s changed behaviour 

• Age and condition of facilities is unattractive 

• Customer and Member perception that facilities are not clean 

 

 

Marketing and sales 

Marketing and Sales Support 

 Marketing activity across the four sites was previously managed by 1Life head office, therefore 

no marketing support transferred to LeisureSK Ltd.  Marketing support has been secured from 

a local firm called Cock-a-doodle-do Communications who have specialist knowledge in running 

campaigns and managing associated activity within the leisure industry.  To date they have been 

supported by the Council’s Communication team and have appointed for an initial six-month 

period so that the Board of Directors can assess their performance and the level of support 

provided or whether alternative arrangements are necessary.  Collective work undertaken has 

been re-branding the facilities and designing the logo, re-launching social media channels and 

developing a marketing campaign to support the launch of LeisureSK Ltd.  This has been put on 

hold due to the current lockdown arrangements but a series of stay at home fitness challenges 

have been launched to keep the current members of the facilities engaged and encourage them 

to remain active. 

The Council’s Communications Team are planning a programme of media interventions to 

promote LeisureSK Ltd. 

83



17 
 

 

Market Analysis 

 A detailed analysis of the local fitness market and competitors for each of the four centres is 

currently being developed.  This will be shared with the Board of Directors and a future meeting 

of Companies Committee once available. 

The centres each have an existing customer base, but this has been decimated by the impact 

of Covid-19.  It will be important to understand the local demand and competition in order to 

develop marketing strategies which attract previous and new users to the facilities. 

However, the work undertaken to date demonstrates that the facilities have a unique selling 

point in the family offer that is available, and the quality and range of activities offered when 

compared to private gym facilities. 

 
 

Pricing 

 The pricing strategy has been aligned to the fees and charges set by the previous operator 

and agreed by the Council in 2020.   

It is important that any future pricing strategy takes account of the dual objectives of 

increasing participation in sport but seeks to limit the ongoing management fee required from 

the Council in terms of an operational deficit.  Prices will therefore be set through an analysis 

of activity trends and benchmarking; 

Prior to the company being established the Council engaged external sector-specific 

specialists to develop the operational business plan, part of the work undertaken was a check 

that the existing prices were within sector norms.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

The current Direct Debit Membership Prices are: 
 

Price Membership 
Minimum 
Term 

Payment 
Method 

Joining 
Fee 

£24.99 Active Grantham 1 month Direct Debit £10 

£18.99 Active Junior Grantham 1 month Direct Debit £5 

£24.99 
Active Concessionary 
Grantham 1 month Direct Debit £10 

84



18 
 

£18.99 Swim Only Grantham 1 month Direct Debit £10 

 

£19.99 
Active Bourne, Stamford & 
Deepings 1 month Direct Debit £10 

£15.99 
Active Junior Bourne, 
Stamford & Deepings 1 month Direct Debit £5 

£19.99 
Active Concessionary Bourne, 
Stamford & Deepings 1 month Direct Debit £10 

 

£26.00 Swim School (All Sites) 4 months Direct Debit £10 

 
Annual Membership Prices: 
 

  Grantham Bourne Stamford Deepings 

Active Annual  £249.90 £199.90 £199.90 £199.90 

Active Annual Jnr  n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Active Annual  Concession n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Swim Annual £189.90 £189.90 £189.90 £189.90 

It will be important for the Board to revisit and revise the pricing strategy as part of business 

planning considering all relevant information in relation to the facilities, activities offered and 

local competition. 

 

 

Advertising and Promotion 

 Historically there has been a reliance on on-line marketing and the use of social media channels 

to promote marketing campaigns to attract new users.  This will continue but paid for social 

media and google adverts will be utilised.  

LeisureSK Ltd has taken over the management of the previous 1Life Facebook pages and these 

have been rebranded as LeisureSK Ltd.  Twitter and Instagram have previously not been used 

as engagement tools, but these have now been developed and are due to be launched in the 

near future. 

A launch campaign for LeisureSK Ltd was developed which focused on rewarding users with a 

free month after four months of their membership rather than reducing what is an already low 

price point.  This campaign will be utilised when the centres are able to open and there will be 

a further programme of offers a key times throughout the year 

A range of on-site tools has also been developed to collect prospect information, including the 

use of free one day and seven-day passes. 

A dedicated LeisureSK Ltd website has been developed to promote the facilities and activities 

offered.  This also has the facility for members to join and directly book activities and is 

complemented by a LeisureSK App which is available for use on Apple and Android devices. 

 

85



19 
 

Actuals and Projections 

First 15-months trading projections 

 The first trading period of the company has been extended to 15 months to cover the period 

January 2021 to March 2022.  This will align the year end with that of the Council and the other 

companies it owns and allow the Council to budget for any operational deficit or projected 

surpluses in future years. 

The forecast for this extended first period of trading has been revisited to account for the 

additional lockdown which delayed the opening of the facilities under the management of 

LeisureSK Ltd, and the subsequent recovery period: 

See attached Appendix Three – Exempt Information. 

 

 

  

86



20 
 

5 Year Forecast 

 The following table shows the projected 5-year position. 

See attached Appendix Three – Exempt Information. 

 

Sensitivity Analysis 

 
In the current environment it is very hard to predict the income and indeed any extra 

expenditure that will be needed to deal with the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic.  Although the 

Council can be comfortable with the overall approach utilised in developing costs estimates 

(using the previous suppliers base and adjusting by industry specialists benchmarking across 

over 15 other local authority areas); it is difficult to predict the short and long-term impact it 

will have on costs and demands for leisure services.  Additionally, the impact of increased 

restrictions, such as a prolonged third lockdown have not been factored into this analysis. 

Therefore, as part of the review of the underlying financial model, various sensitivities have 

been undertaken 

See attached Appendix Three – Exempt Information 

The analysis shows that the Company is highly sensitive to changes in demand and therefore 

usage and wider qualitative measures should form part of the key indicators used to measure 

performance on an ongoing basis.   

Exit Strategy 

 Initially it is intended that the Company will operate for the medium-term only, to allow the 

position with Covid-19 to stabilise, and for the leisure operator market to recover.  The situation 

will be kept under review, and if the company performs well then there may be an opportunity 

for the arrangements to continue for a longer period, or there could be an opportunity for 

efficiencies through a future procurement of the leisure contract. 

 

Business Plan Review Strategy 

 Budget monitoring will be carried out monthly and reported to the Board.  The business plan 

will be reviewed at least annually, and by exception more regularly if there is a belief by the 

Board that this is a risk of the company materially diverging from it. 

Key changes in legislation or competition would also necessitate an exceptional review of this 

strategy to ensure it remains relevant. 

 
 

87



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

89

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Companies Committee: Work Programme 2020/21 

No  Company/ 
Item 

Meeting Date Lead Officer/ 
Assigned to 
(SKDC Job Role) 

Requirements and decisions Notes  
(including reporting 
timeframes) 

1.  InvestSK Ltd  
 
 
 
 
 
27 April 2021 
 

InvestSK Ltd 
Board 
 

 Review of Business Plan (including the 
Stakeholder Management and 
Communication Strategy) 

 Management Accounts 

 AGM Notes (if available) 

Six monthly: 

 Business Plan 

 Management accounts 
 

Annually: 
AGM notes 

2.  EnvironmentSK 
Ltd 

Ian Yates, 
Assistant Director 
for Commercial 
and Operations 

 Review of Business Plan  

 Management Accounts 

 Sales figures 

 AGM Notes (if available) 

Six monthly: 

 Business Plan 

 Management accounts 

 Sales figures 
 

Annually: 
AGM notes 

 
Items for future consideration 

 

3.  Wherry’s Lane 
Management 
Company Limited 

TBC 
 

 
 

 To consider reporting requirements  

 To receive detailed accounts 
 

Annually: 

 Annual accounts 

 AGM notes 

4.  Auber’s Ridge 
Management 
Company 

TBC   Annual accounts 

 AGM notes 

Annually: 

 Annual accounts 

 AGM notes 

 

93

A
genda Item

 8



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 21 October 2020
	4 Updates from the previous meeting
	6 East Midlands Building Consultancy (EMBC)
	Appendix 1

	7 LeisureSK Ltd Business Plan 2021/22
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3

	8 Work Programme 2020/21



